A. Identity of Petitioners 

Petitioners are all eighteen plaintiffs and appellants below, 

hereinafter referred to collectively as "Plaintiffs." 

B. Citation to Court of Appeals Decisions 

Plaintiffs seek review of the decisions of the Court of Appeals, 

Division 1, filed herein on May 12, 2014, and denying reconsideration. 

Copies are attached as Appendixes A and B. 

C. Issues Presented for Review 

1. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that the plaintiffs' 
Complaint does not adequately allege that the deceptive conduct of the 
declarant-appointed Association Board members and their principals in 
concealing construction defects from owners, so as to cause them to lose 
warranty rights, was within "trade or commerce" as required by the 
Consumer Protection Act, merely because these defendants did not 
personally sell units to plaintiffs. The Court of Appeals' holding is error 
because (1) Consumer Protection Act liability does not require a sale 
transaction or consumer relationship; and (2) the deceptive concealment of 
defects was aimed at lulling plaintiffs out of asserting warranty rights 
implied by law into their condominium purchase transactions, promoting 
sales and profits, and thereby inflicting injury in furtherance of these 
defendants' entrepreneurial interests. 

2. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that a condominium 
association Board member who conceals the presence of hidden 
construction defects from unit owners, and conceals and disregards the 
advice of qualified professionals to investigate, repair, and make a 
warranty claim for those defects, owes no duty of care to "future owners" 
who must now fund a share of a $2.5 million assessment to repair 
concealed defects. The Court of Appeals' holding is error because (1) the 
duties of condominium board members under the WCA extend in favor of 
"any person" who is "adversely affected" by a breach of WCA duties, and 
(2) the language of the WCA shows that all plaintiffs, including "future 
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owners," are within the class of persons intended to be protected by 
statutory imposition of board member duties of care. 

3. The Court of Appeals erred in saying that the adverse 
domination presumption may be defeated by knowledge and motive to 
bring a claim of board member malfeasance in persons other than 
plaintiffs. The holding properly applies only to for-profit corporations, 
where other shareholders with knowledge of board member malfeasance 
and an incentive to do so may legally bring claims by derivative action 
that by necessity embrace all other shareholders' claims. 

D. Statement of the Case 

1. Factual Allegations of Plaintiff's Complaint 

The plaintiffs' Complaint of September 7, 2011 alleges that each 

of the eighteen plaintiffs is a residential unit owner at the Huckleberry 

Circle condominium ("the Project") in Issaquah, which is governed by a 

non-party owners' association ("the Association"). The Project and the 

Association were created pursuant to the Washington Condominium Act 

("WCA") at RCW 64.34 et seq. Accordingly, each plaintiff owns 

undivided fractional interest in all of the common elements of the Project, 

and is separate owner of certain non-common elements. (CP 1-2). 

Defendant Huckleberry Circle, LLC ("the LLC") was the declarant 

of the Project; its sole member is defendant Lozier Homes Corporation 

("Lozier"). The LLC is an alter ego of Lozier. (CP 5). The LLC and 

Lozier constructed the Project, which was completed in late 2000. (CP 6). 
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The Association was created on June 29, 2000, and the first sale of a unit 

to a bona fide purchaser occurred on November 6, 2000. (ld.) 

Defendants Sanford, Burckhard, and Sansburn ("the Developer 

Executives") were owners, officers and members ofboth the LLC and 

Lozier. (CP 3). All three were appointed by the LLC to serve as officers 

on the Association's initial Board of Directors ("the Board.") (CP 3). The 

LLC and Lozier are the Developer Executives' principals. (CP 3). 

Together, the Developer Executives, the LLC and Lozier are referred to 

herein as "the Developers." 

During construction, the Developers became aware, or should have 

been aware, that the Project was not constructed in compliance with 

minimum building code requirements for weatherproofing. (CP 6). In 

order to protect their interests from impairment by potential warranty 

liability under the WCA for defective construction, the Developers took 

several steps. First, they prepared a "limited warranty" disclaimer for use 

in sale of the Project units, which was ineffective as a matter oflaw. 

Second, they developed an ostensible "maintenance" program and 

instructed the property manager they had retained to hire a person whom 

they falsely described as a "licensed inspector" to do "periodic 

inspections" ofthe Project. (CP 7). 
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The actual purpose of the latter steps was to create an appearance 

of due diligence in inspection of the construction quality of the Project 

building envelopes, while in fact not undertaking the type of investigation 

necessary to reveal water intrusion and damage. The recommended 

"maintenance" would not address the defective construction of the 

building envelopes, but would only mask the effects of hidden defective 

construction of the weather barrier. (CP 7-8). The ostensibly "licensed 

inspector" the Developers hired had no relevant licenses; she was in fact a 

building industry political activist who tailored her views to meet the 

desires of her developer clients, and who took instruction from the 

Developers not to do an intrusive investigation of the Project. (CP 8). 

Third, the Developers inserted a provision in the Association's 

declaration whereby the LLC reserved the right, for the duration of its 

warranty responsibilities under the WCA, to appoint a person "to serve as 

a full non-voting member of the Association Board (with all the rights and 

powers of a Board member except for the right to vote.)" (CP 8). 

The Complaint alleges that the Board - composed of both 

Developer Executives and homeowner members- consistently concealed 

the fact that the Board was receiving regular reports of water intrusion at 

windows, decks, roofs and other locations; ignored and concealed the 

specific advice of counsel and construction professionals that the buildings 
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showed signs of serious hidden construction defects; concealed certain 

directors' conflicts of interest from owners; negligently or fraudulently 

relied on non-intrusive investigations that were calculated leave hidden 

building envelope defects concealed; wrongfully concealed the extent of 

the defect problems once they became known; and concealed the Board's 

eventual knowledge that they had allowed the statute of limitations on the 

Association's warranty claims to expire without taking appropriate action. 

(CP 9-22). The Complaint further alleges that the Developer Defendants 

falsely told the Board that leaks were caused by the Association's "lack of 

maintenance." (CP 15-16). 

The Complaint alleges that this concealment was intended by 

homeowner-elected Board members to protect property values (many sold 

their units before the truth became known). (CP 20). The Complaint can 

reasonably be read to say that the Developers and Developer Executives 

engaged in a conspiracy to conceal the truth in order to lull plaintiffs out 

of their warranty rights, so their enterprise would continue to sell units and 

maximize profits. (CP 9-19). 

The Board finally revealed the problem in the Spring of2011, 

when it imposed a $2.5 million assessment on unit owners. (CP 22). 

2. Plaintiffs' Causes of Action 
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The plaintiffs sued all of the defendants for breach of their duties 

of care as Board members in failing to act reasonably: by evaluating the 

construction ofthe Project, by heeding the advice of attorneys and 

construction professionals, by responding to known complaints, by 

retaining counsel, by instituting timely repairs, by advising plaintiffs of 

material information, by remaining deliberately ignorant of construction 

defects in order to serve their own financial interests, and by failing timely 

to commence a warranty action or other claim. (CP 23-24). 

The plaintiffs sued the LLC and Lozier for negligence in that, 

having undertaken between the Spring of 2004 and the Spring of 2005 to 

inspect, repair, and report on the condition of the Project, they failed to 

exercise due care in that undertaking. (CP 24). 

The plaintiffs sued the Developers for breach of the Consumer 

Protection Act, alleging unfair or deceptive acts in trade or commerce with 

an impact on the public interest under RCW 19.86 et seq. (CP 24-25). 

The plaintiffs sued the Developers for negligent misrepresentation 

in failing to disclose what they knew and learned about construction 

defects at the Project, and in failing to take reasonable steps in the interests 

of the Association in response to what they knew. (CP 25-26). 

The plaintiffs sued the Developers and defendant Peter for fraud by 

omission and misrepresentation for failing to disclose the existence of 
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defects, the advice of counsel to prosecute a warranty claim, the actual 

purpose ofthe "maintenance" program, and the "licensed inspector's" lack 

of qualifications and conflict of interest. (CP 26-27). 

The plaintiffs sued the LLC, Lozier, and Sanford for civil 

conspiracy in agreeing to work toward causing the Association to lose its 

warranty rights by breaching their fiduciary duties, fraudulently 

concealing the existence of defects, pretending to do a comprehensive 

investigation and repairs with knowledge that the investigation was in fact 

inadequate, misrepresenting the nature and cause of leaks, and placing 

Developer Executive Sanford on the Board to dissuade it from vindicating 

the Association's warranty rights, etc. (CP 29). 

3. CR 12(b)(6) Motions 

Developer Executives and Lozier filed a motion to dismiss 

pursuant to CR 12(b)(6). (CR 77-95). The defendants' central contention 

was that all claims against the Developer Executives accrued upon their 

resignation from the board, and thus all claims were time-barred when the 

plaintiffs filed suit on September 7, 2011. (CP 78, 86-88). 

The Executive Defendants also argued that they owed no duties to 

owners who purchased after their Board terms ended. (CP 78-79, 92-94). 
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One homeowner-elected member, defendant Cusimano, joined the 

motion to dismiss on the grounds that he had resigned more than four 

years before the filing of suit. (CP 201-203). 

Plaintiffs opposed the motion, arguing that their claims accrued 

upon discovery of all the elements of each claim, because the defendants 

concealed the basis for them. (CP 182-3, 187-191). Plaintiffs argued that 

the alleged facts show they could not reasonably have learned of all the 

elements of their claims in time to sue within the applicable limitations 

periods following the Developer Executives' resignations. (CP 187 -89). 

Plaintiffs pointed out that the Developers' duties as Board 

members ran to future owners as being within the class of statutorily 

protected persons under the express provisions of the WCA, in accordance 

with its purpose, and because future owners would foreseeably be injured 

by the Developers' conspiracy to conceal defects. (CP 192-196). 

The trial court granted the motions to dismiss, concluding in a 

memorandum opinion that all claims accrued against the directors when 

each resigned from the Board. (CP 278-80, 281-283). 

Thereafter, the remaining defendants filed similar motions 

pursuant to CR 12(b)(6). (CP 376-84, 385-87, 388-98). Plaintiffs 

opposed those motions, relying on its prior arguments, and noting the 

analogous rule of tolling in cases of "adverse domination" of a corporation 
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by corrupt board members. (CP 835-840). The motions to dismiss were 

all granted. (CP 860-65). 

4. Disposition on Appeal 

The plaintiff homeowners appealed. The Court of Appeals 

affirmed in part and reversed in part. The Court of Appeals' core 

holdings, at least for this purpose are: 

-A cause of action for board member malfeasance does not 

necessarily accrue on resignation from the board. The doctrine of adverse 

domination can apply in Washington to create a presumption that director 

malfeasance was not discoverable during the period of adverse 

domination. The adverse domination doctrine requires a showing of 

concealment and domination by an adverse majority. 

-The adverse domination presumption may be rebutted by a 

showing that someone other than the wrongdoing directors has knowledge 

of a basis for the cause of action, combined with the ability and the 

motivation to bring the action. 

-Adverse domination and tolling of claims as to former Board 

members may be established by showing that an adverse majority of 

Board members continued in place. 

-A condominium Board member owes no tort duties as such to 

persons who purchase units after the Board member has resigned, even if 
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it was foreseeable to the Board member that his or her conduct would 

necessarily redound to the injury of future purchasers, once revealed. 

-While the Complaint adequately alleges fraud, misrepresentation, 

negligence and civil conspiracy, it does not adequately allege facts 

showing that the moving defendants' conduct was in "trade or commerce" 

so as to support a claim for CPA violation, because only the nominal 

declarant LLC (which is in default) actually "sold" the units. 

E. Argument 

1. The Court of Appeals Erred In Holding That The 
Executive Defendants' and Lozier Homes' Alleged 
Conduct Was Not Within "Trade or Commerce" Under 
the Consumer Protection Act. 

The Court of Appeals held that the plaintiffs' Complaint does not 

allege deceptive conduct by the Executive Defendants and Lozier Homes 

(the declarant's parent company) within "trade or commerce" as required 

by the CPA, because neither defendant personally sold the units. Slip Op. 

at 50. This holding is reversible error meriting review under RAP 13.4(b) 

because under Supreme Court precedent, CPA liability does not require a 

sale transaction or consumer relationship. Salois v. Mut. of Omaha Ins. 

Co., 90 Wn.2d 355, 359-360, 581 P.2d 1349 (1978). Rather, deceptive 

conduct in "trade or commerce" includes depriving plaintiffs, by deceit 
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and omission, of valuable rights acquired in trade or commerce for the 

purpose of furthering the defendants' entrepreneurial interests.Jd. 

After alleging a unity of ownership interest and monolithic control 

among the defendants, (CP 3-5), the Complaint alleges that the Executive 

Defendants, Lozier, and the LLC took unfair and deceptive steps, 

including concealment of known defects and misrepresentations, to avoid 

the LLC's responsibility for its warranties of sale, to deprive purchasers of 

their warranty rights, and thereby to protect the interests of the defendants 

in their real estate development enterprise and its profits. (CP 6-19). 

These deceptions occurred both during ongoing sales of units by the LLC, 

and after the developer's initial sales were complete. (CP 24.) 

Hypothetically, the Executive Defendants and Lozier had financial 

interests in the proceeds of ongoing sale of units at the project, and these 

interests would be adversely affected by a warranty claim being asserted 

by homeowners or the Association. Unit sales would have stopped, or 

prices plummeted to account for the need to repair the project. Thus, 

when the Executive Defendants and Lozier attempted through deception to 

deprive purchasers of their warranty rights, they did so in order to protect 

not only their investments and interest in proceeds of condominium sales, 

but also their business interest in the reputation of their companies. 
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The Court of Appeals cites no authority to support its conclusion 

that defendants' deceptive conduct falls outside the ambit of "trade or 

commerce" under the CPA. On the contrary, the CPA directs that it is to 

be construed liberally, RCW 19.86.920, and "shows a carefully drafted 

attempt to bring within its reaches every person who conducts unfair or 

deceptive acts or practices in any trade or commerce." Short v. 

Demopolis, 103 Wn.2d 52, 61,691 P.2d 163 (1984). "Trade or 

commerce" "shall include the sale of assets or services, and any commerce 

directly or indirectly affecting the people ofthe state of Washington." 

RCW 19.86.010(2). "The legislature intended these terms to be construed 

broadly." Stephens v. Omni Ins. Co., 138 Wn. App. 151, 173, 159 P.3d 

10 (2007) citing Hangman Ridge, 105 Wn.2d 778, 785, 719 P.2d 531 

( 1986). The result of this broad construction is that the CPA reaches 

more than just sales conduct, and extends to unfair or deceptive 

entrepreneurial activities that impact the public interest. Salois v. Mut. 

of Omaha Ins. Co., 90 Wn.2d 355, 359-360, 581 P.2d 1349 (1978). 

In Salois, an insurer's refusal to pay policy benefits was held a 

violation of the CPA, even though it was not based on a sale transaction, 

because the CPA reaches any deceptive or unfair conduct that deprives 

plaintiffs, in effect, of what they have purchased. 90 Wn.2d at 359-360. 

Here, as in Salois, the defendants' conduct was intended to (and did) 
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deprive plaintiffs of what they thought they had purchased - a 

condominium to be built in accordance with sound construction standards 

under the WCA, and a warranty to match. The purpose was to protect the 

defendants' interests in their real estate development enterprise. The 

conduct is therefore within the sphere of"trade or commerce," as broadly 

construed by the CPA and case law. 1 

The Executive Defendants' and Lozier's liability for their 

deceptive and unfair dealings under the CPA is not excused merely 

because they acted through the LLC as a corporate shell in selling units. 

If a corporate officer participates in the wrongful conduct 
[that violates the CPA], or with knowledge approves ofthe 
conduct, then the officer, as well as the corporation, is 
liable for the penalties. Corporate officers cannot use the 
corporate form to shield themselves from individual 
liability [for violating the CPA.] 

State v. Ralph Williams' N W Chrysler Plymouth, 87 Wn.2d 298, 322, 

553 P.2d 42 (1976). 

See also Stephens, 138 Wn. App. at 174-176 ("[N]either the CPA nor case law 
require privity of contract in order to bring a CPA claim alleging an unfair or deceptive 
act or practice .... The act simply does not require a consumer relationship .... [Rather,] 
"Any person who is injured in his or her business or property by a violation of RCW 
19.86.020 ... may bring a civil action in the superior court." RCW 19.86.090 (emphasis 
added)"); and Griffith v. Centex Real Estate Corp., 93 Wn. App. 202,213-214, 969 P.2d 
486 (1998) (Concealment of defective workmanship in homes by a builder-vendor 
alleges a violation of the Consumer Protection Act because "The CPA applies to 
activities both before and after a sale, and may be violated by failure to disclose 
material facts.") (Emphasis added.) 
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Defendants engaged in concealment and deception regarding the 

presence of concealed defects in the condominium, the cause of leaks, the 

advice of experts, and the advisability of pursuing a warranty claim. This 

happened during both the ongoing sales of units at the project by a 

company (the LLC) they controlled, and during the subsequent warranty 

period after original sales had ended. The purpose and effect of the 

defendants' deceptive conduct was to deprive purchasers of warranty 

rights they had acquired in trade or commerce, in support of the 

defendants' entrepreneurial interests. The alleged conduct thus occurred 

in trade or commerce, and states a claim for violation of the CPA. 

2. The Court of Appeals Erred In Holding That A 
Condominium Board Member's Duty of Care Cannot 
Extend to Association Members Who Purchase Units 
After The Board Member Resigns ("Future Owners"). 

The Court of Appeals held that a condominium director's duty of 

care to unit owners does not extend to those who purchase a unit after the 

director has resigned (the opinion calls them "future owners.") The Court 

of Appeals' holding is contrary to clear Washington case law and the plain 

language of the WCA, and thus merits review under RAP 14.3(b). 

As declarant-appointed directors, the Executive Defendants owed 

the unit owners a fiduciary duty of care under the WCA; director 

defendants elected to the Board owed the unit owners a duty of reasonable 
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care. RCW 64.34.308(1). This part of the WCA does not say that these 

duties run only to "present" owners. 

Elsewhere, however, the WCA does address who is a proper 

plaintiff when injury is caused by a defendant's breach of a WCA 

provision. Under RCW 64.34.455, 

If ... any ... person subject to this chapter fails to 
comply with any provision hereof or any provision of the 
declaration or bylaws, any person or class of persons 
adversely affected by the failure to comply has a claim 
for appropriate relief. 

(Emphasis added). Thus, the WCA directs that ifthere is a violation of a 

duty announced by the Act, it is actionable by anyone adversely affected, 

even future owners. 

Even setting aside the WCA's plain language, the result is the

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