RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Sep 08, 2014, 2:03 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 90642-4

| E | CRF |
|---------|--------------|
| RECEIVE | ED BY E-MAIL |

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 69637-8-1

CINDY ALEXANDER; BLOCKER VENTURES, LLC; CHRIS CLARK; R. BRUCE EDGINGTON; KIPP JOHNSON and JENNIFER JOHNSON; GOPIKRISHNA KANURI and HIMABINDU KANURI; CHRIS KASPRZAK and ELIZABETH KASPRZAK; PAUL LARKINS and JOYCE HYOJUNG LARKINS; KRISTINE MAGNUSSEN; SCOTT MCKILLOP; CAINE OTT and DANA OTT; MARA PATTON; PETER RICHARDS; DANTE SCHULTZ; WINFRED D. SMITH; ROBERT STODDARD and COLETTE STODDARD; NEIL WEST; LIANG XU and JIA LU DUAN,

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

⁸ E.g., Blewett v. Abbott Labs., 86 Wn. App. 782, 789, 938 P.2d 842 (1997) (mere allegation that plaintiffs purchased product not sufficient to state a CPA claim against those who did not sell directly to plaintiffs).

202, 206, 969 P.2d 486 (1998). (As suggested there, in the context of real estate transactions, the CPA has only been applied to claims against sellers or those who directly induced a plaintiff to purchase. *Griffith*, 93 Wn. App. at 217.9)

Although in *Salois* the insurer's wrongful act did not occur in the initial sale of the policy, it nevertheless occurred between the plaintiff and his insurer, which insurer had issued the policy directly to the plaintiff. The insurer's liability was not based upon its conduct as a board member but as the plaintiff's insurer, to whom the plaintiff had been paying premiums for coverage, which coverage the insurer denied in bad faith. Homeowners here do not allege that they paid anything to Declarant Board Members or Lozier, nor did they have any commercial relationship with them whatsoever. The Court of Appeals properly determined that these defendants were not acting in "trade or commerce" when they took or failed to take actions while on the board of the condominium association.

⁹ As noted by the Supreme Court in *Eastlake Const. Co. v. Hess*, to state a CPA claim, the plaintiff must show that the defendant induced the plaintiff "to act or refrain from acting." 102 Wn.2d 30, 55-56, 686 P.2d 465 (1984). Here, there are no allegations that these Homeowners ever had any contact with the Declarant Board Members or Lozier, so those defendants could not have induced the Homeowners to do or not do anything.

2. Review is not warranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

Homeowners' petition, at 10, says that the Court of Appeals' holding "is reversible error meriting review under RAP 13.4(b) because under Supreme Court precedent, CPA liability does not require a sale transaction or consumer relationship," citing *Salois*, 90 Wn.2d at 359-60. Presumably, Homeowners rely on RAP 13.4(b)(1), which provides that a petition for review will be accepted by this Court if "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court."

As noted above, however, the Court of Appeals' ruling that
Homeowners did not plead a CPA claim because they did not allege that
Declarant Board Members and Lozier Homes were acting in trade or
commerce is *not* in conflict with *Salois*. The Court of Appeals noted that,
contrary to Homeowners' arguments, there was no relationship between
any Homeowner and the Declarant Board Members or Lozier Homes
based upon a sale, nor was there any other allegation of a relationship in
trade or commerce. *Alexander* and *Salois* coexist perfectly. The Court of
Appeals' decision here is not in conflict with any appellate decision, ¹⁰ and

¹⁰ Homeowners cite State v. Ralph Williams' N.W. Chrysler Plymouth, Inc., 87 Wn.2d 298, 322, 553 P.2d 423 (1976) for the proposition that corporate officers can be held directly liable for CPA violations. However, in that case, the corporate officer held liable (Ralph Williams) solely owned all the stock in the defendant corporations, personally trained its managers to practice the accused deceptive acts, and controlled all finances; and thus the corporations "were part of a single financial entity owned, managed, and (FOOTNOTE CONT'D)

Homeowners themselves do not argue that there is any substantial public interest implicated by the Court of Appeals' decision with respect to the CPA issue. Review of this issue should be denied.

- B. Review is not warranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) of the Court of Appeals' holding that board members did not owe a duty to future owners.
 - 1. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the board members' statutory duty of care runs only to persons who owned a unit while the board member served.

The Court of Appeals held that board members did not owe duties of care under the WCA to future owners, citing *Nguyen v. Doak Homes*, *Inc.*, 140 Wn. App. 726, 732-33, 167 P3d 1162 (2007). 325 P.3d at 363. The Court of Appeals held that board members *may* be liable to future owners if they owed a "free-standing [non-statutory] duty of care to future owners," as that concept was explained in *Frances T. v. Vill. Green Owners Ass'n*, 42 Cal. 3d 490, 229 Cal. Rptr. 456, 723 P.2d 573 (1986). 11

controlled by Williams." 87 Wn.2d at 310. The allegations here are simply that the Declarant Board Members took actions or did not take actions in the course of serving on the board of the condominium association that allegedly caused these plaintiffs to lose warranty rights. Most of these plaintiffs purchased their units after all WCA warranty rights had expired anyway, but regardless, these Declarant Board Members are not liable for the declarant's warranties under the WCA (RCW 64.34.445) and their service as board members does not constitute "trade or commerce" under the CPA.

Homeowners (in footnote 2 of their petition) criticize the Court of Appeals' reliance on Francis T. "to support its holding that condominium board member duties to not extend to 'future owners.'" Homeowners misapprehend the Court of Appeals' reliance on that case. The Court of Appeals cites Frances T. for its instructive analysis that, even if no statutory duty is owed, a "free-standing" duty of care may be owed and should be considered. 325 P.3d at 363-64. That is, a board member may, in some circumstances, (FOOTNOTE CONT'D)

Id. But the complaint does not allege that board members or Lozier Homes breached any such free-standing duty. 325 P.3d at 364.

Homeowners argue that the Court of Appeals erred because (1) the WCA expressly provides that board members owe duties to future owners and (2) the fact that harm to future owners was foreseeable brings future owners within the scope of board members' duties. Homeowners are wrong.

a. Board members' statutory duty runs only to persons who currently own a unit.

The WCA, RCW 64.34.308(1), explains that:

[T]he board of directors shall act in all instances on behalf of the association. In the performance of their duties, the officers and members of the board of directors are required to exercise: (a) If appointed by the declarant, the care required of fiduciaries of the unit owners; or (b) if elected by the unit owners, ordinary and reasonable care.

Homeowners are incorrect when they argue this statute is not explicit whether the board's duty extends to future owners. [Pet. at 15]

As stated there, "the board of directors shall act in all instances on behalf

be liable for his or her own tortious conduct, even when not liable as a board member. *Id.* The Court of Appeals' reliance on *Frances T.* expanded, rather than restricted, the scope of liability of some of the respondents. *Id.* at 364, 367-68.

Moreover, Homeowners' description in that footnote of the holding in Raven's Cove Townhomes, Inc. v. Knuppe Dev. Co., 114 Cal. App. 3d 783, 171 Cal. Rptr. 334 (1981) misrepresents the holding. Raven's Cove does not hold that a declarant-appointed board member owes duties to future owners. Nothing in that opinion indicates any of the unit owners who were represented by the association were "future owners," and nothing in the opinion purports to hold that future owners can make claim against board members for breach of fiduciary duty.

of the association,"¹² and as stated elsewhere in the WCA, the "membership of the association at all times shall consist *exclusively* of all the unit owners." RCW 64.34.300 (emphasis added). The definition of "unit owners" is limited to "a declarant or other person who *owns* a unit. . . ." RCW 64.34.020(42) (emphasis added). The use of the present tense "owns" was not accidental, as the WCA distinguishes between current "unit owners" and future "purchasers." *Compare* RCW 64.34.100 (31) ("purchasers") *with* RCW 64.34.100 (42) ("unit owners"); *see also* RCW 64.34.425 (unit owner's duties to future purchasers); 64.34.332, - .340 (voting restricted only to unit owners). Under the WCA, board members owe duties only to the association, comprising only unit owners. Accordingly, a board member is not a fiduciary of someone who does not own a unit, even if that person may in the future own a unit.

¹² While the statute goes on to reference "unit owners" only with respect to the level of performance for declarant-appointed board members, it would make little sense to treat elected board members different from declarant-appointed board members, as noted by the Court of Appeals. 325 P.3d at 362. And it would be particularly perverse to impose a more rigorous burden on elected board members, who are expressly held to a lesser standard of care under RCW 64.34.308(1).

Indeed, even the comments to the Uniform Condominium Act relied on by Homeowners (Petition, at 15-16) make this point by again emphasizing the duty to "unit owners" as defined in the WCA: "Subsection (a) makes members of the executive board appointed by the declarant liable as fiduciaries of the unit owners with respect to their actions or omissions as members of the board." Official Comment 1 to § 3-103 of 1980 Model Uniform Condominium Act. Notably, whereas the Uniform Act states only that the board "may act in all instances on behalf of the association," Washington clarified the scope of duty by adopting the language "shall act in all instances. . . ." RCW 64.34.308(1) (emphasis added). Thus, the WCA requires condominium board members to act only for the interests of current unit owners.

The Court of Appeals' holding here is congruent with this Court's holding in *Stuart v. Caldwell Banker Commercial Grp., Inc.*, 109 Wn.2d 406, 421, 745 P.2d 1284 (1987), where the Court refused to hold that a builder-developer owed a duty to future unknown purchasers. ¹³ If a builder-developer does not owe any duty to future purchasers, certainly volunteer board members of a nonprofit condominium association should not have any such duty. Notwithstanding Homeowners' concern that actions by board members may have an adverse effect on persons who later become unit owners, a fiduciary relationship should not reasonably exist between a person who is serving as a board member of the association and a person who has no current relationship with the association nor between a unit owner and a person no longer acting as a board member. Termination of board membership effectively precludes the creation of new fiduciary relationships thereafter.

RCW 64.34.455 does not expand board members' duties. That statute permits any person adversely affected by a failure to comply with RCW Ch. 64.34 to make a claim for violation of the WCA. But that

¹³ There, this Court held that the trial court's acceptance of "the plaintiffs' invitation to recognize a poorly-reasoned cause of action to grant recovery [under a theory of tort liability] to subsequent purchasers" was manifestly dangerous. Although *Stuart* preceded adoption of the WCA, its holdings have been confirmed as being congruent with and incorporated into the WCA. *Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC*, 167 Wn.2d 781, 811, 225 P.3d 213 (2009).

provision cannot reasonably be read to expand board members' statutory duties. Board members' duties are as set forth in RCW 64.34.308(1), and RCW 63.34.455 does not change that result. Read together, the provisions simply mean that a failure to comply with the WCA gives rise to a claim, but a board member's duties are only so broad as described in RCW 64.34.308(1), and acts or omissions that do not violate the duty of care described in RCW 64.34.308(1), even if they can cause harm, do not constitute a failure to comply with the WCA (and so do not give rise to a claim under the WCA). To read RCW 64.34.455 as Homeowners do effectively reads the explicit description of board members' duties in RCW 64.34.308(1) out of the WCA.

b. The authorities relied upon by the Court of
Appeals support its opinion and are not contrary
to Schooley.

The Court of Appeals cited and relied upon its earlier decision in *Nguyen v. Doak Homes, Inc.*, 140 Wn. App. 726, 167 P.3d 1162 (2007), in determining that board members do not owe a duty to future owners.

325 P.3d at 363, 367. In their petition, Homeowners do not cite *Nguyen*, much less attempt to distinguish it.

Nguyen provides that a second purchaser of a house does not have an action for fraudulent concealment against a builder-developer who did not disclose a defect to the first purchaser, even though a subsequent sale is foreseeable.¹⁴ 140 Wn. App. at 733. That authority is controlling under the facts of this case.

Schooley v. Pinch's Deli Market, Inc., 134 Wn.2d 468, 951 P.2d 749 (1998) does not help Homeowners. In that case, a minor died when she dove into a pool after consuming beer purchased from the defendant market by other minors. A statute prohibited sale of alcohol to a minor. This Court held that the market could be held liable for the death of the deceased minor if her death was a foreseeable result of the market's having breached its duty not to sell alcohol to a minor.

Determining the scope of duty in a negligence claim for personal injury invokes a different analysis from a breach of fiduciary duty or fraudulent concealment claim resulting in economic harm. *Nguyen*, 140 Wn. App. at 732-33. As the Court of Appeals said in this case, "[W]hile foreseeability might be sufficient to establish a general tort duty, it is not sufficient to establish a fiduciary duty." 325 P.3d at 363. *Schooley* was a negligence claim for personal injury damages; like the *Hunter v. Knight, Vale & Gregory* 15 and *Pfeifer v. City of Bellingham* 16

¹⁴ Accord Stuart, 109 Wn.2d at 421 (builder not liable to future purchasers in tort, even if resale is foreseeable).

¹⁵ 18 Wn. App. 640, 571 P.2d 212 (1977).

¹⁶ 112 Wn.2d 562, 772 P.2d 1018 (1989).

cases distinguished in *Nguyen*, 140 Wn. App. at 732-33, *Schooley* does not apply here.

2. Review is not warranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

Homeowners' petition does not cite to or attempt to explain how or why RAP 13.4(b) considerations apply to this issue. They might have intended to argue that this Court's decision in *Schooley* conflicts with the Court of Appeals' opinion here, but for the reasons set forth above, it does not conflict. In the absence of any argument by Homeowners why this Court should accept review—other than Homeowners' mistaken argument that the Court of Appeals erred—the Court should deny review, as the Court of Appeals' decision is fully congruent with existing case law.

C. The parameters of the newly-adopted doctrine of adverse domination should be reviewed by this Court.

The Court of Appeals held that the doctrine of adverse domination should apply where the plaintiffs are individuals pursuing their own alleged claims against their neighbors who volunteered to serve on their condominium board, even though courts have generally restricted that doctrine to instances where the corporation itself is suing its board members. Homeowners ask this Court to accept review of only one issue with respect to that holding—namely, how the presumption of adverse domination is rebutted in these peculiar circumstances.

Respondents have also filed a petition for review from the Court of Appeals' decision (which the Court will consider at the same time as it considers Homeowners' petition), and in that petition, respondent board members and Lozier Homes have asked the Court to accept review of two issues related to the Court of Appeals' application of the adverse domination theory: (1) whether an allegation of adverse domination by some board members can be used by plaintiffs to toll the statute of limitations against other members who were not alleged to have dominated or even been involved with the challenged decision and (2) whether application of adverse domination in this context is proper at all, and if it is, whether the "complete domination" test is the more appropriate standard for proving domination in the context of volunteer members of a nonprofit condominium board. As argued in the board members' petition, review of the Court of Appeals' application of adverse domination here is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court, as the application of the doctrine will affect the governance of not just condominium associations, but indeed all corporations in Washington. If the Court accepts review of Respondents' petition regarding adverse domination, it should accept review of Homeowner's petition on this lone issue as well.

V. CONCLUSION

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